IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MAZEN ALOTAIBI,

Appellant,

VS.

RENEE BAKER, WARDEN LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER; AND JAMES DZURENDA, DIRECTOR OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 797 Electronically Filed
Mar 17 2020 11:30 a.m.
District Court Case No Elizabeth 45. Brown
Department 23 Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from Decision and Order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, the Honorable Stefany Miley, Denying Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

CLARK HILL PLC

DOMINIC P. GENTILE
Nevada Bar No. 1923
VINCENT SAVARESE III
Nevada Bar No. 2467

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A.

Basis Of Appellate Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction to review a final order of the District Court denying a post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Pursuant to NRS 34.575(1).

В.

Timeliness Of Appeal

The District Court entered its Decision and Order denying Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus on September 6, 2019. (AA01085-AA01097). Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 30, 2019. (AA01099-AA01158). Therefore, this appeal was timely filed. And in view of the Court's allowance of an extension of time for preparation of the transcript of proceedings and evidentiary hearing on Appellant's Petition before the District Court on June 6, 2019, (AA01159-AA01248), this Opening brief is likewise timely filed.

C.

Final Judgment

The District Court's Decision and Order denying Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus was a final order disposing of all matters pertaining thereto. Therefore, that Decision and Order constitutes a final judgment of the District Court with respect to Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus and is therefore an appealable Order at this time.

2.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12), this appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court in that this case "raise[s] as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, or an issue upon which there is an inconsistency in the published decisions of the . . . Supreme Court," and should also be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17 (a)(11), in that this case "raise[s] as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law."

Specifically, this appeal concerns the question of whether, with respect to the two counts of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under the age of 14 Years with which he was charged in Counts 3 and 5 of the Second Amended Information filed in this case, the prejudice to Appellant attributable to defense counsel's ineffectiveness at trial in unilaterally deciding to reject the Court's invitation for a jury instruction informing the jury of the option of finding Appellant guilty of the then-available lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction based upon evidence of record of the alleged victim's consent to engage in acts of sexual penetration by the accused, in lieu of presenting them with the binary choice of either (1) convicting Appellant of the greater offense of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under the age of 14 Years, and thereby invoking the non-discretionary and substantially greater mandatory

minimum sentence associated with each such count, or (2) completely exonerating him with respect to those counts on an "all or nothing basis," was rendered non-prejudicial by the jury's election to convict Petitioner of two separate counts of the distinct lesser offense of Lewdness with a Minor, to which consent was neither a defense nor the basis of any reduction of offense. And to counsel's knowledge this question raises issues of first impression in this jurisdiction which are of statewide public importance in the administration of the criminal law, and further implicate inconsistencies in the published decisions of this Court. And accordingly, Appellant respectfully submits that this Court should retain this appeal.

3.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether, with respect to the two counts of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under the age of 14 Years with which he was charged in Counts 3 and 5 of the Second Amended Information filed in this case, the prejudice to Petitioner attributable to defense counsel's ineffectiveness at trial in unilaterally deciding to forego the Court's invitation to give a jury instruction informing the jury of the option of finding Petitioner guilty of the then-available, lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction based upon evidence of record of the alleged victim's consent to engage in acts of sexual penetration by the accused, in lieu of presenting the jury with the strictly binary choice of either (1) convicting Petitioner of the greater offense of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under the age of 14 Years, and thereby

invoking the non-discretionary and substantially greater mandatory minimum sentence associated with each such count, or (2) completely exonerating him with respect to those counts on an "all or nothing basis," was rendered non-prejudicial by the jury's election to convict Petitioner of two separate counts of the distinct lesser offense of Lewdness with a Minor under the age of 14 years, with which he was charged in Counts 4 and 6, which distinct lesser offense – in contradistinction to the lesser offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction – had no bearing whatsoever on the inapplicability of the greater offense of Sexual Assault of a Minor Under 14 years based on the consent of the minor, under the-then effective statutory scheme?

4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 18, 2013, Appellant Mazen Alotaibi, was charged by Second Amended Information, (AA00001-AA00004), with, *inter alia*, two counts of "Sexual Assault With a Minor Under 14 Years of Age" pursuant to the thenapplicable provisions of NRS § 200.366, which then provided in pertinent part:

"1. A person who subjects another person to sexual penetration, or who forces another person to make a sexual penetration on himself or herself or another, or on a beast, against the will of the victim or under conditions in which the perpetrator knows or should know that the victim is mentally or physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of his or her conduct, is guilty of sexual assault.

. .

3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, a person who commits a sexual assault against a child under the age of 16 years is guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished:

. . .

(c) If the crime is committed against a child under the age of 14 years and does not result in substantial bodily harm to the child, by imprisonment in the state prison for life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 35 years has been served."

(Emphasis added.)

The evidence at jury trial showed that on December 31, 2012, Appellant – a Saudi Arabian national and then a pilot in the Saudi Air Force stationed in Texas – had come to Las Vegas together with several other friends to celebrate New Year's Eve. (AA00279-AA00283). And that after a night of drinking at various local drinking establishments, (AA00322-AA00323; AA00336), the group were returning together to their room at the Circus Circus hotel casino when they unexpectedly happened upon A.D.—then a 13-year-old boy—loitering unaccompanied in the elevator lobby area of their hotel room floor. (AA00079-AA00081).

The evidence showed that A.D. asked Petitioner—then an adult over the age of 21 years— for marijuana, and that the two went outside the hotel to smoke some. (AA00081-AA00085; AA00144-AA00145).

A.D. testified that Appellant thereupon made sexual advances toward him and

offered A.D. both money and an additional quantity of marijuana in exchange for sex. (AA00084-AA00086).

A.D. personally testified that, in response, he *expressly agreed* to engage in sexual activity with Appellant pursuant to this proposal, and that he thereupon accompanied Appellant back to Appellant's hotel room for that specific purpose. (AA00086; AA00096; AA00110-AA00113; AA00152; AA00163). And A.D. testified that, while Appellant's friends were elsewhere in the room watching television, he willingly entered the bathroom with Appellant, wherein the two thereupon engaged in both oral and anal intercourse. (AA00088-AA00093; AA00117).

However, A.D. also claimed that, after voluntarily entering the bathroom for the purpose of engaging in consensual sexual activity with Appellant by agreement, he purportedly changed his mind, and that he did not in fact engage therein consensually. (AA00093-AA00094). During a subsequent police interview, Appellant stated, conversely, that A.D. had indeed consented to have sex with him pursuant to the previous agreement of the parties, the existence of which A.D. had specifically acknowledged in his own testimony, as set forth *supra*. (AA00461-AA00467; AA00472). And a videotape of the police interview of the Appellant was provided to the jury. (AA00485-AA00486; AA00469).

However, the evidence showed that A.D. had lied to the police about

voluntarily agreeing to have sex with Appellant, and falsely represented to the police that the Appellant had essentially kidnapped him and dragged him to his hotel room for the pose of deliberately misleading them. (AA00462).

Thus, the allegations of both oral and anal penetration of the minor accuser were uncontested at trial. Indeed, the evidence showed that Appellant had expressly confessed thereto. The only contested issue at trial was therefore whether or not those penetrations were consented to by Appellant's accuser. And accordingly, consent was the (only) theory of defense.

Following the close of evidence, during discussion regarding jury instructions with counsel for the parties outside the presence of the jury, the court invited defense counsel to request a jury instruction with respect to the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction under the then-applicable provisions of NRS § 200.364 to offset the charges of Sexual Assault With a Minor Under 14 Years of Age contained in Counts 3 and 5, observing that there was indeed evidence of record that A.D. had consented to engage in the sexual activity at issue to support such an instruction, and expressly stating the court's inclination to provide such an instruction if requested to do so by defense counsel. (AA00639-AA00640).

In 2012, NRS § 200.364(5) (Statutory Sexual Seduction: Definition) defined Statutory Sexual Seduction as:

- "(a) *Ordinary*¹ sexual intercourse, *anal intercourse*, cunnilingus or *fellatio* committed by a person 18 years of age or older with a person under the age of 16 years; or
- (b) Any other sexual penetration committed by a person 18 years of age or older with a person under the age of 16 years with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of either of the persons."

(Emphasis added).

At that time, NRS § 200.368(1) (Statutory Sexual Seduction: Penalties)—a separate statute—provided, in pertinent part, that "a person who commits statutory sexual seduction shall be punished: "If the person is 21 years of age or older, for a category C felony as provided in NRS 193.130."

And, at that time, NRS § 193.130(2)(c) (Categories and punishment of felonies) provided, in pertinent part, that "[a] category C felony is a felony for which a court shall sentence a convicted person to imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1 year and *a maximum term of not more than 5* years" (emphasis added).

Thus, under the relevant statutes then in effect, while consent was a complete defense to the charge of Sexual Assault (an element of which was that sexual penetration be undertaken "against the will" of the victim), a finding of guilt as to that offense where the victim is a minor under the age of 14 years (and, as here, no

¹ *I.e.*, consensual.

substantial bodily harm is implicated), required by statute that a sentence of life imprisonment be imposed and that parole eligibility be precluded until a minimum mandatory period of 35 years has been served. Whereas, by contrast, a finding of consent on the part of the victim does not constitute a defense to the charge of Statutory Sexual Seduction (prohibiting sexual penetration of a minor by an adult with the consent of the minor), a finding of guilt as to that offense was punishable by statute by a very considerably lesser maximum term of 5 years of imprisonment.² (AA00643-AA00645).

At the request of defense counsel, the above-quoted portion of this discussion between court and counsel for the parties was conducted while Petitioner was *not present* in the courtroom. However, as the court expressly required, the court's agreement to this procedure was strictly contingent upon defense counsel's

The statutes defining statutory sexual seduction and sexual assault were amended in 2015. Under the 2015 amendments, any sexual penetration of a minor under the age of 14 is sexual assault, and it is no longer possible for statutory sexual seduction to be committed against a minor under the age of 14. Therefore, the analysis of the statutory elements in this opinion pertains only to the version of the statutes in place at the time the offenses were committed in 2012. *See* 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 528, § 7, at 3255 (sexual assault, NRS 200.366(1)); 2009 Nev. Stat., ch. 300, § 1.1, at 1296 (statutory sexual seduction, NRS 200.364(5)).

Alotaibi v. State, 404 P.3d 761, 762 (Nev. 2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 1555, 200 L. Ed. 2d 743 (2018).

² As this Court observed in its opinion on direct appeal in this case:

"every single thing" that court and counsel had discussed regarding jury instructions with Petitioner Alotaibi "in the presence of the interpreter," so that Petitioner would understand "exactly" what the proposed jury instructions were going to be (emphasis added). (AA00644).

Defense counsel thereupon *unilaterally* rejected the trial court's invitation to request a lesser-included offense instruction with respect to Statutory Sexual Seduction concerning those counts (3 and 5) of the Information in which Petitioner was charged with the greater offense of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under The Age Of 14 years. In response, the court encouraged defense counsel to give the matter further consideration in consultation with his client. (AA00643-AA00655)

In so doing, although reiterating (in agreement with the state) that the court did not consider the lesser offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction to be a lesser *included* offense *subsumed* within the greater offense of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under The Age Of 14 years; and therefore, that Petitioner did not have the *right* to have the jury instructed with respect to Statutory Sexual Seduction, the court again reminded defense counsel that he could nevertheless *request* a Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction as a lesser *related* offense – *having previously advised* all counsel that the court was inclined to provide such instruction in the exercise of its discretion if requested to do so by defense counsel in this case. And the court

then instructed defense counsel to review and explain all jury instructions to his client, including the issue of whether to request a lesser-related offense instruction for Statutory Sexual Seduction. (AA00656-AA00657).

However, when the court thereafter inquired of defense counsel as to whether this had in fact been accomplished, defense counsel acknowledged that it had not. (AA00659-AA00660). (See AA01186; AA01189; AA01191-AA01198).

Declining additional opportunities to engage in further discussion with Appellant to ensure his understanding of the option to seek or reject a lesser-related offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction, and notwithstanding further encouragement of the court to request such an instruction, ultimately, defense counsel nevertheless definitively declined the court's invitation to request a jury instruction regarding statutory sexual seduction as a lesser-related offense. (AA00643-AA00655).

Indeed, as defense trial counsel expressly acknowledges, he did *not* obtain his client's authorization to reject the trial court's invitation to seek a lesser-related offense instruction as to Statutory Sexual Seduction, but rather, unilaterally elected to pursue an "all or nothing" defense in closing argument and in instructions with respect to those counts (3 and 5) in which Appellant was charged with the greater offense of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under The Age Of 14 Years. Thus, defense trial counsel concedes that he undertook this course of action *without the permission*

of his client. And he thereby failed to obtain his client's input into the critical risk analysis inherent in this very momentous decision under the then-applicable statutory scheme.

In the absence of defense counsel's request (notwithstanding the repeated invitation of the trial court), no lesser-related offense instruction regarding Statutory Sexual Seduction was provided to the jury. And no argument with respect thereto was offered to the jury by defense counsel. (AA00841-AA00860). Instead, defense counsel pursued an "all or nothing" defense to the charges of Sexual Assault With A Minor Under The Age Of 14 Years contained in Counts 3 and 5 of the Information both in closing argument and in jury instructions.

A verdict was returned by the jury finding Petitioner guilty on both counts (3 and 5) in which he was charged with "Sexual Assault With a Minor Under 14 Years of Age." And in accordance with the then-applicable mandatory minimum sentencing requirement of NRS § 200.366(3)(c), Petitioner was sentenced with respect thereto to serve (concurrent) terms of life imprisonment without parole eligibility until a minimum of 35 years of incarceration had been served.

Indeed, as set forth *supra*, whereas, at the time, pursuant to NRS § 200.368(1) and NRS § 193.130(2)(c), the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction was punishable by a maximum penalty of 5 years of imprisonment, where, as here, no substantial bodily harm to the victim results, under the textual provisions of

assault was punishable under the then-effective provisions of subsection 3(c) (applicable here), "[i]f the crime is committed against a child *under the age of 14 years*," a person who commits a sexual assault "shall" be punished by imprisonment "for life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 35 years has been served" (emphasis added).

5.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Having correctly found that Appellant's trial counsel failed to provide effective assistance in unilaterally waiving Appellant's opportunity to request a lesser-related offense instruction of Statutory Sexual Seduction (an offense then punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment of 5 years) with respect to Counts 3 and 5 of the Information in which Appellant was charged with Sexual Assault of a Minor under 14 Years of age — an offense punishable by a minimum mandatory term of 35 years imprisonment, the trial court erred in holding that Appellant was not prejudiced by this because the jury had the option to, and did, find Appellant guilty of the distinct lesser-related offense of Lewdness With a Minor Under the age of 14 Years. This is so because that lesser offense had no bearing on whether Appellant would be convicted of Sexual Assault, whereas, in the event of a finding that the minor had consented, Statutory Sexual Seduction and its substantially lesser

sentence would obtain under the law in effect at the time of the alleged offense, because at that time, Sexual Assault and its comparatively Draconian penalties only applied to forcible rape – even of a minor.

6.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S POST-CONVICTION PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS; AND THEREFORE, HIS CONVICTION ON COUNTS 3 AND 5 OF THE SECOND AMENDED INFORMATION EACH CHARGING HIM WITH THE OFFENSE OF SEXUAL ASSAULT OF A MINOR UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS SHOULD BE REVERSED, AND APPELLANT GRANTED A NEW TRIAL WITH RESPECT THERETO.

Α.

Standard Of Review

As this Court explained in *State v. Huebler*, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), with respect to appeals from denials of post-conviction habeas corpus petitions: "We give deference to the district court's factual findings . . . but we will review the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. *See Lott v. Mueller*, 304 F.3d 918, 922 (9th Cir.2002) (stating that district court's findings of facts are reviewed for clear error, but questions of law are reviewed de novo); *see also Lader v. Warden*, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005) (application to review of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel).

The Prejudice Attributable To Trial Counsel's Acknowledged Ineffectiveness Was Not Obviated By The Jury's Election To Convict Appellant Of Two Separate Counts Of Lewdness With A Minor Under The Age Of 14 Years

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