IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MAZEN ALOTAIBI,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 16 2020 09:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 79752

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The district court found that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a Statutory Sexual Seduction jury instruction, but that Appellant was not prejudiced because the jury already rejected a lesserrelated offense and found him guilty of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age. In its Order of Affirmance, this Court found that Statutory Sexual Seduction, in fact, is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age. However, even though the district court found that Statutory Sexual Seduction was a lesser-related offense and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request the jury instruction, the outcome is still the same that Appellant was not prejudiced by the lack of the Statutory Sexual Seduction jury instruction. As such, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice. Accordingly, the district court properly denied Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT APPELLANT'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM FAILS BECAUSE HE CANNOT DEMONSTRATE PREJUDICE

The appellate standard of review is that the Court gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters but reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). "The question of whether a [criminal] defendant has received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial in violation of the Sixth Amendment is a mixed question of law and fact and is thus subject to independent [appellate] review." <u>Lara v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P.3d 528, 529-530 (2004).

A. Standard of Review for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also <u>State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The Court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." <u>Jackson v. Warden</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. <u>See Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Rhyne v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v.</u> <u>State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of

14

success." <u>Id</u>. To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2068).

This Court has held "that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence." <u>Means</u>, 120 Nev. at 1012, 103 P.3d at 33. Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id</u>. NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, "[Petitioner] *must* allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.]... Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed." (emphasis added).

B. The district court found trial counsel, Don Chairez, ineffective.

Following the evidentiary hearing, the district court found that trial counsel, Don Chairez, Esq., was ineffective. VI AA 1086, 1093. In its Order, the district court found trial counsel ineffective for failing to consult with his client regarding the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction:

> An attorney has a duty to consult with the client regarding important decisions. Here, trial counsel was instructed to sit with his client and the interpreter to inform the Petitioner about the jury instruction discussions, including

the possible request for the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction. Transcript Day 7 at 3, 20-21, 31, 34. Trial counsel acknowledged that he did not meaningfully discuss the lesser-related Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction issue with Petitioner.

Pursuant to two-prong test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, COURT FINDS, Petitioner's trial counsel was ineffective when he *failed to review all jury instruction discussions* with the Petitioner as explicitly directed by the Court. However, COURT FURTHER FINDS, that failing to review the lesser-related offense with his client did not result in a reasonable probability that the result would have been different pursuant to *Strickland*.

VI AA 1093-1094. The district court also noted the sentencing guidelines in 2012,

for the charged counts:

Sexual Assault—a category A felony for which a court shall sentence a convicted person to life with parole eligibility after 35 years if the offense was committed against a child under the age of 14 years and did not result in substantial bodily harm. NRS 200.366(c).

Lewdness—a category A felony for which a court shall sentence a convicted person to

- (a) Life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served, and may be further punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000; or
- (b) A definite term of 20 years, with eligibility for parole after a minimum of 2 years has been served, and may further be punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000. NRS 201.230 (2)

Statutory Sexual Seduction—a category C felony for which a court shall sentence a convicted person to imprisonment in the state prison for a term of not less than 1 year and a maximum term of not more than 5 years. In addition to any other penalty, the court may impose a fine of not more than \$10,000, unless a greater fine is authorized or required by statute. NRS 193.130 (c).

VI AA 1093.

However, while the district court found that trial counsel was ineffective at trial for failing to request the Statutory Seduction jury instruction and failing to discuss it with his client, trial counsel's ineffectiveness did not result in reasonable probability that the result would have been different pursuant to <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064.

C. Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice.

Appellant alleges that he was prejudiced by counsel's ineffectiveness because counsel failed to ask for a jury instruction of the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction. AOB, at 18. Appellant claims that this decision prejudiced him because it presented the jury only two (2) choices: Sexual Assault of a Minor Under the Age of Fourteen or "completely exonerating him" which "resulted in at least 700% more time in prison." AOB, at 18 (emphasis removed). However, Appellant misconstrues the meaning of prejudice by focusing on the punishments for the different charges. The jury did not know the punishments for the charges and was instructed not to consider punishment. Appellant incorrectly equates prejudice with the amount of time in prison instead of focusing on whether the outcome of trial would have been different pursuant to <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64.

This Court applies the "elements test" from <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), to determine whether an uncharged offense is a lesser-included offense of a charged offense as to warrant an instruction pursuant to NRS 175.501. <u>Barton v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 686, 694, 30 P.3d 1103, 1108 (2001), <u>overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d, 1101 (2006). Applying the elements test, an offense is "necessarily included" in the charged offense if "all of the elements of the lesser offense are included in the elements of the greater offense." <u>Id</u>. 117 Nev. at 690, 30 P.3d at 1106.

While the district court found that counsel was ineffective for failing to request the jury instruction of Statutory Sexual Seduction, in its Order of Affirmance, this Court found that Statutory Sexual Seduction is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age:

> In this appeal, we are asked to determine whether, under the statutory definitions existing in 2012, the offense of statutory sexual seduction is a lesser-included offense of sexual assault when that offense is committed against a minor under 14 years of age. Under the elements test, for an uncharged offense to be a lesser-included offense of the charged offense so that the defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on the lesser offense, all of the elements of the lesser offense must be included in the greater, charged offense. In applying the elements test in this case, we must resolve two issues related to the elements that make up the charged and uncharged offenses. First, we consider

whether a statutory element that serves only to determine the appropriate sentence for the offense but has no bearing as to guilt for the offense is an element of the offense for purposes of the lesser-included-offense analysis. We hold that it is not. Second, we consider how to apply the elements test when a lesser offense may be committed by alternative means. We hold that the elements of only one of the alternative means need be included in the greater, charged offense to warrant an instruction on the lesser offense.

Applying these principles to the statutes at issue, we conclude that statutory sexual seduction, as defined in NRS 200.364(5)(a) (2009), is not a lesser-included offense of sexual assault even where the victim is a minor, NRS 200.366(1) (2007), because statutory sexual seduction contains an element not included in the greater offense. Thus, the district court did not err in refusing to give a lesser-included-offense instruction on statutory sexual assault.

•••

Here, the elements necessary to convict a defendant of sexual assault are contained solely in subsection 1 of NRS 200.366, whereas the age of the victim set forth in subsection 3 is a factor for determining the appropriate sentence for the offense. As clearly indicated by the statute's structure and language, the age of the victim is not essential to a conviction for sexual assault; it serves only to increase the minimum sentence that may be imposed. Thus, it is a sentencing factor and not an element of the offense for purposes of the elements test.

•••

Here, neither of the alternatives in NRS 200.364(5) is necessarily included in the offense of sexual assault. Both alternatives include the age of the victim (under 16 years

of age) as an element of the offense that is required for conviction. 2009 Nev. Stat., ch. 300, § 1.1, at 1296. As explained above, the age of the victim is not an element required for a conviction for the greater offense (sexual assault). The alternative set forth in NRS 200.364(5)(b)also includes an intent element that is not included in the greater offense – that the sexual act was committed "with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of [the defendant or the victim]." Id. Therefore, under the elements test, statutory sexual seduction is not a lesser-included offense of sexual assault, and Alotaibi was not entitled to an instruction on sexual statutory seduction. As such the district court properly refused to instruct the jury on statutory sexual seduction. We therefore affirm the judgment of conviction.

V AA 933-935, 942-945 (emphasis added). Thus, this Court already determined that Statutory Sexual Seduction is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor under Fourteen Years of Age and that Appellant was not entitled to an instruction on Statutory Sexual Seduction.

As discussed <u>supra</u>, Section I.B., the district court found that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request the jury instruction of Statutory Sexual Seduction and failing to discuss it with Appellant. VI AA 1095. However, the district court determined that, even if there was a deficient performance by trial counsel, the outcome of the trial was not prejudiced because the jury chose to convict Appellant on the greater charge, Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age instead of the lesser-included charge of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14. The district court explained that the jury had three (3) options regarding the anal and oral penetration of A.J.: "the jury had the option to (a) convict the [Appellant] of Sexual Assault, (b) convict the [Appellant] of Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age, or (c) exonerate the [Appellant]." VI AA 1095. The district court also reasoned:

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